
FIB81' mlUIITTEE 490th 
MEETING 

Tuesday, 15 January 1952, at 3 p.m. 

Palais de Chaillot, Paris 

CONTENTS 

Page 

Measures to combat the threat of a new world war and to strengthen peace and 
friendship among the nations (A/1944, A/1947, A/C.1/698 and A/C.1/699) 
( continued) . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 93 

Chairman : Mr. Finn MoE (Norway). 

Measures to combat the threat of a new world war and 
to strengthen peace and friendship among the 
nations (A/1944, A/1947, A/C.1/698 and A/C,1/699) 
( conrinued) 

GENERAL DEBATE (continued) 

1. Mr. LLOYD (United Kingdom) stated that he did
not propose to discuss the question of the North Atlantic
Treaty Organization or the question of Korea any further
in view of the fact that the former had been admirably
dealt with by the Norwegian representative at the previous
meeting and that the Peruvian representative had put
forward with extreme clarity at the same meeting the
position in connexion with the latter.
2. Neither did he intend to reply to the propaganda
speeches made by certain representatives on both questions.
He wished only to recall the Haitian representative's obser­
vation at the 488th meeting that armaments were the
symptoms, and not the cause, of international tension.
:t The representative of the United Kingdom would 
confine himself to explaining why his delegation was of 
the opinion that the problems raised by paragraphs 3 to 7 
of the USSR draft resolution {A/C.1/698) should be referred 
to the Disarmament Commission. 
4. He rejected as completely untrue the assertion he had
heard, and which had been published in certain organs of
the Press, to the effect that the western Powers had rejected
the USSR proposals. The United Kingdom delegation
was, on the contrary, as it had indicated in plenary meeting,
ready to examine the proposals in good faith, and it had
no intention of burying them, as the Byelorussian repre­
sentative had alleged at the 489th meeting. It was of the
opinion that the work of Sub-Committee 18 of the First
Committee had constituted a modest step forward and that
the proposals put forth by the USSR representative should
be considered as another product of the conversations which
had then taken place. The USSR representative had in fact
stated that the proposals were being made in order to
bridge the gap between the parties as far as possible.
However, it would be wise not to raise false hopes and to

• IndiCllteS the item number on the General Assembly agenda. 

bear in mind the fact that no sudden or dramatic solution 
was likely. 
5. The most recent USSR proposals would require
careful scrutiny. Two points in them called for immediate
comment.
6. The first was with regard to the simultaneous decla­
rations, conventions or agl"eements on the ban on atomic 
weapons and the setting up of an international control 
organization. As the French representative had already 
recalled (488th meeting), similar draft resolutions had 
already been submitted by the Soviet Union in 1918, 1949 
and 1950. The United Kingdom delegation considered it 
necessary to emphasize that any proposal providing that 
declarations and conventions should be simultaneous did 
not meet its wishes. The fundamental position of the 
United Kingdom was that an agreement on all types of 
armaments and armed forces should be concluded and an 
effective control organization established before any parti­
cular weapon could be banned, Under the USSR proposal, 
the prohibition of the atomic weapon and the institution 
of international control would be " put into effect simul­
taneously ". That wording left room for doubt as to the 
meaning of the phrase " put into effect ". The new Disar­
mament Commission was the body best qualified to consider 
whether that formula constituted an advance towards the 
western Powers' position. 
7. The second dealt with the constitution, scope, methods
and powers of the control organization or orgamzations and
called for careful examinatmn. The United Kin�dom 
delegation believed that the organization to be established 
should control all armaments and armed forces, that it 
should control atomic energy as well as atomic weapons 
and that it should have the widest powers. The question 
of such powers gave rise to problems on which substantial 
differences of opinion and of interpretation might exist, 
for example, with regard to the right to make inspections 
and investigations into breaches of the conventions. It 
would have to be decided whether such investigations could 
only be made on a prima f acie case of a breach being estab­
lished, on suspicion of a breach, or when neither a prima 
f acie case nor a suspicion of a breach existed. Those 
problems had been discussed in Sub-Committee 18, but 
would require further detailed scrutiny. 
8. Mr. Vyshinsky had himself referred to the question
of the permanent stationing of inspecting staffs. The United

193 
A/C.1/SR.490 



lH General A..embly-Sixtb Seesioo-Fint Committee 

Kingdom delegation held the view that it ·;vould be necessary 
to have such staffs permanently stationec l  at certain places. 
It would have to be decided whether t be inspection staff 
could exercise their powers of control ic placc,11 other than 
officially acknowledged armament plan :s. That sort of 
problem wa linked with the question of domestic sove­
reignty b cause the officers of the control organization could 
not carry out thei r inspect ion without some interference 
in the domestic affairs of States. The delegations of 
France, the U nited Kingdom and the United States, in 
their draft resolution on the questior of disarmament 
(A/C. I /667 JR v. 1 ) , recognized that such in terference should 
be reduced to a minimum. 
9. The U SSR, in its revised draft reso· ution, while reco�­
nizi.ng the authority of the internatior al control orga nt­
zation to proceed to a " continuing " inspection, formu lated 
the restrictive clause that it would not be entitled " to 
interfere in the dome tic affairs of Stat� ". That wording 
made it nee sary to defi ne what constituted " the domestic 
affai rs of tates ". If such a definition w �re undu ly  rig"d ,  it 
might rob the efforts of the control o: ·ganization of any 
efficiency from the very beginning. · . .  'he USSR repre­
sentative himsel.f bad expressed very pronounced v iews 
as to the exclusive purview of the domE stic jurisd iction of 
States. 
1 0. In conclusion, the representativ, � of the nited 
Kingdom thought that the First Committee should decide 
by al most unarumous agreement that it w as not in a position 
to examine in detai l such complicated < lUestions, and that 
those questions should be referred to the Disarmament 
Commission. The R proposals w )uld constitute an 
excellent basis for the commission's work . 
1 1 .  Mr. Liu CHIEH (China) thought that the US R draft 
resolution (A/C.1/698) dealt in part v,ith questions the 
Committee had already discussed. 
1 2 .  He could not accept the argunent advanced in 
paragraph 1 to the effect that particip: tion of a tate in 
NATO was incompatible with membemhip in the nited 
Nations. It was true that h is delegati n had always held 
that regional arrang ments, by cone nt ·ating attent ion .on
the s curity of one particu lar region, might deprive col lcct1ve 
security of its univer ality. The member .  of the First Co�­
mittee would, however, appreciate that the orth Atlantic 
Treaty Organization was the �esult of the fears of_th p�st­
war period and of th aggressive character of Soviet U m.on
policy. ATO wa not, as the � ·  R repres ntatlve 
claimed, an instrument of aggression. Regional arrange­
ments concluded in accordance ·N ith the nited 

ation Charter for the purpose of self-defence could not be 
regarded as incompatible with the purp )Ses and principles 
of the Charter. 
1 3. Paragraph 2 of the USSR draft resolution dealt with 
the Korean question, of which the Com mittee had decided 
( 486th meeting} to defer discussion pending a successful 
outcome of the truce negotiations. Ir sh?uld, . however,
be em hasized that the JSSR draft res 1lut1.on d1sregarded 
the nited ations objectives in Kor, :a ; the immediate 
objective was to combat the a�gressio 1 which had beeo 
committed in that country, while the long-term objecti".e 
was the establishment of a free, i ndepenr ent and democrat:Jc 
Korea. 
1 4 . As regards paragraphs 3 to 7 o_ - the llS R draft
resolution, which set out the U SR p1 1sition on the pro­
hibition of the atomic weapon, the inte: ·national control of
atomic energy and disarmament general ly, the main points
in those paragraphs were already contained in the amend­
ment submitted by the U SSR delegatior: (A/C.1 /668/Rev.2)
to the draft resolution on the regulat; on, limitation and

balanced reduction of aU armaments and all armed forces 
submitted by Jirance, the United Kingdom and the U nited 
States. The various points of the amendment had been 
rejected by the First Committee at its 47 1 t meeting. After 
studying the concessions , hich the SR representative 
claimed he had made, t.he Chinese delegation considered 
that tb :y were neither fundamental nor important enough 
for the Committee to reconsider its decision , 
1 5. The wording of paragraph 3 did not make it clear 
whether the USSR delegation had merely re-stated the  
position it had  taken iu  1 94 , when i t  accepted the pri nciple 
of the simu ltaneous adoption of a convention on the 
prohibition of the atomic weapon and of a convention o!' 
international control, or whether it meant that the prol1 1-
bition of the atomic weapon would come into effect as soon 
as the international system of control had come into opera­
tion. If the latter interpr tation was correct, some progress 
had been made. Differences of opinion would, howe er ,  
remain as to the exact meaning of the words " international 
control of atomic energy ". The differences raised qu stions 
of a legal nature which th Disarmament omrnission shou ld 
study careful ly .  
16.  

_
The inclusion of the words " ins_pection on a con ­

tinuing basis ' i.n paragraph 6 of the S R  draft resolution, 
instead of the word " periodic inspection " undoubtedly 
constituted a concession. But the re ervation to the effect 
that th control organ should not be entitled " to interfere 
in the domestic affai rs of tates " gave rise to the appre­
hension that the U SSR was prepared to accept only partial 
inspection,  whereas the nited ations plan provided, with 
certai n reservations, for universal in pcction. 
1 7 .  Moreover, the nited ations plan recommended a 
n umber of guarantees. It would permit atomic ener�y to be 
used for peaceful purposes only after prior pennission had 
been obtained, and would submit atomic energy plants to 
supe rvision by an international organ. he USSR bad not 
accepted those measure 
1 8 . The C hi nese delegation accordingly supported the
draft r solu tion submitted by France, the U nited Kingdom 
and the United States to the effect that paragraph 6 should 
be studied by the Disarmament Commission. 
l 9 .  I n  the fin.al paragraph of its draft re olution the oviet

nion cal led ufon the five permanent member of �e
Security Coun ci to conclude a peace pact " and to ombme 
thei r efforts for the achievement of this high :md noble 
aim " an d cal led upon all  other States to join in the pact. 
What higher and nobler aim was there than that already 
proclaimed in the U nited Nations Charter ? If the purposes 
and princip]es of the Charter were disregarded and violated ,  
as they often were b y  the policy o f  the SSR, was there 
any reason to bel ieve that peace and security could be 
achieved by implementing the new pact proposed by the 
USSR ? 
20. M r. VAN LA GE HOVE (Belgium) considered
that , although the SSR proposals did represent a _step
fonvard by compari on with the R proposals subm1tted 
two months previou ly, they did no more than re-state 
almost verbatim a proposal put forward by the U SSR dele­
gat ion on 2 Octob r 1 948. 1 

2 1 . In the circumstances it was difficult to decide whether 
any real progress had been made. Did that progres re�ate 
both to the continuing nature of control and to the principle 
of imultaneou prohibition and control � What was the 
extent of the reservations prohibiting interference in the 

1 See document A/ . 1 '3 1 0 . 



490th Meeting-15 January 1952 195 

domestic affairs of States ? The First Committee was 
unable to answer such questions categorically. 
22. The Belgian delegation therefore supported the
proposal that the USSR draft resolution should be referred
to the Disarmament Commission. It hoped that the USSR
delegation would accept that proposal, in view of the fact
that it had already supported a similar proposal by the
Czechoslovak delegation (A/C.1/ti83, point :3).
2:{. Mr. van Langenhove would refrain from discussing 
the Korean question since the Committee had decided to 
postpone consideration of it. The paragraphs of the USSR 
draft resolution which called for the condemnation of the 
;\forth Atlantic Treaty and the conclusion of a peace pact 
in which the great Powers would take the initiative, were 
merely outworn propaganda items. 
21I. The fundamental cause of international tension was 
to be found in the alarming expansion of the USSR in 
the previous ten years. In the course of history, similar 
political manifestations of imperialism had always provoked 
a defensive reaction on the part of the States whose inde­
pendence they threatened. 
2:-i. Mrs. SEKANINOVA - CAKRTOVA (Czecho­
slovakia) thought that the USSR representative's proposals 
provided fresh evidence of the peaceful policy of the USSR. 
That policy aimed at eliminating the prevailing international 
tension and creating a real basis for understanding. It 
was founded on a profound analysis of the causes of that 
tension and contained recommendations which alone could 
remove it. 
21\. The North Atlantic Treaty, which was presented to 
the world as a defensive pact, had become the basis of the 
foreign policy of the United States and its partners. The 
treaty determined the relations between the United States 
and the countries of peace and democracy against which it 
had been concluded. It also determined the relations 
between the United States and the other members of the 
" Atlantic bloc ". It was the cornerstone of a whole system 
of " blocs " agreements and pacts which had been or were 
being concluded in the Near and Middle East and in the 
Pacific, all directed against the USSR, the people's demo­
cracies and the national liberation movements of peoples 
still under foreign domination. The aggressive character of 
the treaty which had been apparent from the very outset, had 
been accentuated in recent years. Its conclusion repre­
sented the abandonment by the western Powers of the policy 
of co-operation at the end of the Second World War. That 
change of policy had had repercussions in the United 
Nations itself, where the unanimity of the five great Powers 
was now considered a thing of the past. 
'27. It was claimed that the North Atlantic Treaty was a 
regional arrangement under Article :i2 of the Charter which, 
however, clearly required " that such arrangements or 
agencies and their activities are consistent with the purposes 
and principles of the United Nations". The treaty, which 
in article ::i provided for military measures without the 
sanction of the Security Council, was clearly in conflict 
with the Charter. 

28. The North Atlantic Treaty was not designed to
settle regional problems ; it was intended to serve the post­
war policy of the United States which was directed against
co-operation among nations and at preparing for a new war.
The reference to Article 51 of the Charter was unsubstan­
tiated ; article 51 clearly showed that only an armed attack
against a Member State gave the right to self-defence until
the Security Council had taken the necessary measures.
Moreover, the signatories of the treaty included States which
wen· not members of the United Nations ; that, too, was
in contradiction to Article .'i1 of the Charter.

29. The activities of the " Atlantic bloc " and the state­
ments made by its official spokesmen proved that the North
Atlantic Treaty was aimed at the Soviet Union and the
people's democracies, and was designed to secure world
domination by the United States of America. It was
charact�ristic t�at hostile activities which grossly violated 
the ,Umted _Nat10ns Charter a1:1d the fundamental principles
of mternat1onal law, were lmked by the United States 
Mutual Security Act to the North Atlantic Treaty 
Organization. 

30. The North Atlantic Treaty was not only fundamen­
tally different from the treaties concluded between the
Soviet Union and the people's democracies, but was also
inconsistent with the agreements concluded between the
Soviet Union and France and between the Soviet Union
and the United Kingdom ; those agreements expressly
p_rohibited _participation by either signatory in any coalition
aimed agamst the other party. The aggressive purpose 
of the treaty was emphasized by the remilitarization of 
yv est Ger�any and b:y the inclusion of the former aggressor 
m a bloc directed agamst the peace and security of nations. 
The Soviet-German Non-Aggression Pact of 1939, which 
had been concluded while the western Powers had been 
attempting to turn Hitler's aggressive tendencies against 
the Soviet Union and which the representative of Haiti had 
mentioned, had postponed Hitler's attack on the Soviet 
Union and enabled it to make the preparations which had 
saved Europe. Any example chosen from the USSR's 
foreign policy clearly showed that its sole purpose had always 
been the maintenance of international peace and security. 

:-H. The United States was attempting to create a network 
of war bases spanning the whole world. Membership in 
the North Atlantic Treaty Organization was governed by a 
single criterion. How could the countries concerned serve 
the aggressive aims of the United States ? Could they 
provide soldiers, raw materials and bases ? At the Confe­
rence of Deputy Foreign Ministers of the four great Powers 
held in Paris, in 195 l, the United States representative, 
supported by the representatives of the United Kingdom 
and France, had opposed the inclusion in the agenda of the 
questions of United States military bases on foreign territory 
and of the North Atlantic Treaty. 

32. In his speech at the 487th meeting, Mr. Vyshinsky, the
head of the Soviet delegation, had cited additional facts
which had left no doubt as to the real state of affairs.
American sources themselves provided ample evidence.
Mrs. Sekaninova-Cakrtova quoted a number of articles in
The New York Times and Colliers and statements by the
United States Department of Defense and the Navy Depart­
ment to the effect that the United States had military bases
all over the world, and that even as early as 194:i the Ame­
rican authorities had planned to achieve a position which
would enable them to dominate the world. The recently
concluded peace with Japan was designed to legalize the
domination of the United States over Japan and over the
military bases it maintained there, which represented a direct
threat to China. The aid given to Chiang Kai-shek and the
occupation of Taiwan (Formosa) served similar purposes.
In addition, the United States maintained a large number
of air bases in Spain and its colonies, in Libya and the
Middle East and in the French territories in Africa. As
indicated in an article published on 28 March 1951 in the
Schweizer Illustrierte Zeitung, a key position had been given
to West Germany, where the dark forces of nazism were
preparing a new attack. But world public opinion would not
be misled by United States efforts to represent such aggres­
sive preparations as a peace policy. The main purpose of the 
Schuman and Pleven plans was to make the war mdustry of 



96 Genera. Assembly-Sixth S sion-First Committee 

the Ruhr a principal arsenal of aggression in Europe, and 
to form the nazi hi rel ings of , est Gen nany into the core 
of the so-called European army. The French newspap r 
Le Monde had very rightly said that upreme Headquarters 
Allied Powers in Europe (SHAPE) was faced with English 
reticence, the lack of enthusiasm of certain small nations, and 
the fear of countries such as France of see ing their  economies 
ru ined and their social con Aict renewed or aggravated. 
33 . The Marshall Plan, which had at f rst been presented
as a plan for the economic reconstructi Jn of Europe, had
long ago been exposed as an instrumen t of United States
aggre ive and expansionist policy. ince the conclusion of
the I orth Atlantic Treaty it had been openly transformed
into a programme for the militarization of the European
economy. The result was i nflation, re duction of civil ian
production and a decline in the livinr standards of the
working people-phenomena which the mselves created a
danger to peace. To that must be added the interference of
United States imperialism in the normal economic rel ations
between nations, for example, in trnde relations between
the United Kingdom and eastern Europt : . It would also be
reca l led in that connexion how th rut , :d Kingdom repre­
sentative had had to give way in 1 951 to United States
pressure in the matter of economic anct ons against hina .
3 . s far back as 1949, the SR Government had 
drawn the inevitable conclusions from the signing of the 
Iorth tlantic Treaty, and had si.nec t 1en, in conformity 

with the principles on which the njte Nations had been 
fou nded , combated United Stat s atte 1pts to undermine 
the nited ations. It was in acco ·dance with those 
principles that the U SSR delegation had called upon the 
General Assembly to declare pa.rt i cipa· :ion in the North 
Atlant ic  Treaty and the establ ishment of mil itary bases 
in foreign te::rntory incompatible with membership i n  the 
United Nations. The U SSR proposal before the Com­
mittee was intended to serve the mten ·sts of all nations, 
even thos whose Governments participted in the orth 
Atlantic Treaty whether they were amoni: the members who 
I d or tho e who were led. The nited , ations was threa­
tened by the a$gressive • Atlantic blo : " in two ways : 
ind irectly, by virtue of the fact hal I he character of a 
Member tate's contribution to the acti .. ities of the United 
Nations was determined by the natu re of its policy ; 
directly, because the leaders of the " aggr :ssive blocs " were 
now trying illegally to link those blocs, which had been 
created in circumvention of the Unitd Nations, to the 
Organization itself. 
35 . The treaties of alliance concluded by zechoslovak ia
were based on friendship and mutual a� iscance, on respect
for the sovereignty of States and on a �ommon effort for
pcac.e. The foreign policy of the oviet nion and that of 
Czecho lovakia proceeded from the pr i nciple that there
could be co-operation between differt nt economic and
social systems, provided that there wa mutual respect and
equal ity. For those reasons the delegatior of Czechoslovakia
ful ly su pported paragraph 1 of the USf R draft resolution
regarding the North Atlantic Treaty.
:16.  Pa ragraph 2 of the USSR draft rc 3olution related to 
Korea. The United States had failed in it: efforts to convince 
the world that orth Korea had committed an act of 
aggre ion against that part of Korea rul( d by the Syngman 
Rhee puppet government. The post ponement of the 
discussion on the question of the ind per dence of Korea, at 
the demand of the United States delcgati:>n, had once again 
proved that the nited States GovernmE nt wa opposed to 
peace negotiations, and planned to reduc -e all Korea to the 
status of a nited tates colony, to exploi : Korea's resources 
by United t.ates monopolies, to use the country as a base 
for aggression against the People's Repli blic of China and 

to exploit the war in Korea in order to stimulate the arma­
ments race . The United ations Command in Korea was 
doing everythi ng in its pow r to slow down the truce nego­
tiations taking place there by committ i ng provocative acts 
and by submitting unacceptable demands such as the 
occupation of Kaesong, the exchange of prisoners of war 
according to a procedure contrary to set practice, and the 
establ ishment of United tates air control over Korean 
territory. 
37.  The United States wa transporting fresh troops from
Japan to Korea. The nited States · r  Force was con­
tinuing its b ta1 bombardments. Clearly, if the nited

tates genuinely desired peace, it  would adopt a more serious
attitude. It would not impos its views by continuing to
commit acts of aggression.

38. The Czechoslovak dele ation supported the USSR
proposal on tl1e solution of the Korean problem because
it was a reali$tic proposal, which could restore peace by
guaranteeing the independence of Korea and the freedom
of the Korean people. M ankind wou l d  be grateful to the

ovict Union for the policy it had pu rsued from the begin­
ning, a policy which was designed to  secure peace in Korea 
and which was the origin of the truce negotiations. 

3 , The Czechoslovak delegation welcomed the SSR 
proposal contained in paragraph 3 of the draft, that the 
General Assembly should proclaim the u nconditional 
prohibition of the atomic weapon and the establishment of 
strict international control over the enforcement of that 
ptohibition . That proposal represented an imfortant
advance towards the strengthening of internationa peace 
and security. It clearly stated that the prohibition of the 
atomic weapon and international control should be pu t  into 
effect simultaneously. 

4 • rom the ,cry beginning of the nited Nations, the 
R had time after time submitted practical proposal 

for the prohibition of the atomic weapon, and for control 
over the enforcement of the prohibition. Its proposals had 
b en systematically sabotaged by the western Powers, For 
example, they had secured adoption, at the present session, 
of a resolution postponing indefinitely the prohibition of the 
atomic weapon and again advanci ng the Baruch J?lan which 
made no mention of the prohi bition of the atonuc weapon. 
That fact threw much light on statements recently published 
in the United States press to the effect that the United 
States armed services were demanding ever greater quan­
tities of atomic products. 
-n . Pa ragraph 4 of the S R draft resolution related to
the reduction f the armaments of th great Powers, and
was based on the fact that the great Powers had both
special responsi bilit ies and speciaf obl igations.
12. The R representati e had shown that the armed 
forces of the " Atlantic bloc " States were grt-ater than those 
of the U R, which had demobi l ized thirty-three age­
groups since the end of the war and was engaged in peacefu l 
construction. The representatives of the western Powers 
claimed that the armed forces of the U SSR were superior 
to tht i r  own , i order to j ustify an armaments race of which 
the consequences were already seen to b disastrous . 
4:i .  tep hould be taken to stop the armaments race, to 
prohibit  at0mic weapons, to establish control over that 
prohibit ion, and to reduce all armaments, so as to re­
establish confidence and peace. The representatives of 
the western Powers should reflect on a statement appearing 
in the Wall Street JoW'1tlll to the effec.t that the European 
peoples were a.id to be concerned at the extent of western 
rearmament , because they rlid not bel i t•,·e in an i mminent 



490th Meeting-15 January 1952 197 

attack by the Soviet Union, but feared that the United 
States might blunder into war. 

44. Paragraphs 5 and 6 of the USSR draft resolution
dealt with the data on armaments and armed forces which
States were to submit and with the establishment of an
international control organ. It was indicated in those
paragraphs that inspection should be carried out on a
continuing basis, but that the international control organ
should not, of course, be entitled to interfere in the domestic
affairs of States.

45. Paragraph 7 provided for a world conference, to be
convened before 15 July 1952, to study all the problems
connected with a reduction of armed forces and armaments,
the prohibition of atomic weapons and the control over the
observance of that prohibition.

46. Under the terms of paragraph 8 of the draft resolution,
a peace pact between the five great Powers, which all other
peace-loving States could join, would be an important step
towards peace.

47. The United States feared peace. That had been
demonstrated again in connexion with the recent armistice
negotiations in Korea, which had caused a panic in the
United States because they might mean the end of the arms
race. In that respect the Wall Street Journal might again
be quoted. It had expressed regret that the United States
was automatically rejecting all USSR proposals, which
were having a telling effect on the world.

48. Recalling the statement of the Czechoslovak Minister
of Foreign Affairs at the fifth session of the General
Assembly to the effect that the foreign policy of Czecho­
slovakia consisted in promoting international co-operation,
Mrs.lSekaninova-Cakrtova gave herun reserved support to the
USSR draft resolution (A/C.l /698) which made it possible
to find a solution to all the problems threatening peace.
She asked the Committee not just to defer the draft reso­
lution, but to adopt it.

,19. Sir Keith OFFICER (Australia) said that the USSR 
draft resolution contained a series of proposals, of which 
some had already been repeatedly discussed and rejected 
by the General Assembly. Others presented certain new 
features but appeared to reflect the same basic position. 
The continued and repeated submission of rejected pro­
posals made it increasingly difficult to preserve an objective 
spirit and was not conducive to useful and serious discussion. 

50. The Australian delegation's main objection to the
USSR resolution was that it was not designed to reduce
international tension. The adoption of declarations which
merely reflected the symptoms of the hostility between the
Soviet and non-Soviet worlds would do nothing to diminish
that tension. Repeated attempts by the western Powers
to reach agreement with the USSR had so far failed because
the USSR was apparently incapable of adopting an attitude
of compromise. For example, it had insisted in the United
Nations that resolutions which it opposed, althou�h
adopted by the great majority of members, were " illegal '. 
Although in such circumstances it was naturally difficult 
to make progress towards a settlement, attempts to do so 
would continue. 

51. The North Atlantic Treaty and the rearmament of
the western countries were the result of the fears inspired
by the policies pursued by the Soviet Union since 1945.
Those fears had been increased by the aggression in Korea.
Australia recognized the defensive character of the North
Atlantic Treaty, since regional arrangements were provided
for in the Charter. It would be easy to reply in kind to
the proposal that membership in the North Atlantic Treaty

Organization should be declared incompatible with mem­
bership in the United Nations ; for example, to propose 
that support of aggression in Korea be declared incom­
patible with such membership. Such a declaration might 
be made with more justice but would do no more to relieve 
the present strained situation. 
52. It had been the consistent aim of the United Nations
to end the fighting in Korea as soon as possible. Countries
like Australia were only too anxious to get their forces home.
The slow progress of armistice negotiations was primarily
caused by the obstructive tactics of the North Koreans and
Chinese Communists. The best contribution which the
USSR could make towards an armistice would be to use
its influence with those authorities to instruct their nego­
tiators to show a less obstructive spirit.
53. The First Committee had already decided not to open
a discussion on Korea which would inevitably touch on
military matters. He reminded the Committee however,
with respect to the location of the armistice line, that the
military negotiators had agreed, after long discussion, that
the line should be based on the positions occupied by the
forces of both sides and not on the 38th parallel. Any
attempt to reopen that issue was therefore regrettable.
54. It had also been agreed by both sides that the
withdrawal of foreign troops was a political matter. The
United Nations position was that it could not be discussed
in isolation from other aspects of general political
negotiations. That position was without prejudice to the
United Nations intention not to keep forces permanently
in Korea. Its attitude on the question of withdrawal had
already been made clear in 1950.
;J:i. The General Assembly had recently adopted at its 
:358th meeting a resolution establishing a Disarmament 
Commission to study all the proposals which might be 
submitted. The commission would naturally study the 
USSR proposal. The representatives of the three Powers 
had also signified that they would give full consideration to 
the USSR proposal, particularly to those parts which might 
contain new points. 
56. Some explanation of those points would be required,
particularly in connexion with the simultaneous putting
into effect of the prohibition of atomic weapons and of the
control over that prohibition, with insp�ction on a continuing
basis and with non-interference in the domestic affairs of
States. The Disarmament Commission would be able to
conduct its study in a quiet atmosphere and with the assist­
ance of experts.
57. For that reason, his delegation would support the
three-Power proposal to refer the disarmament aspects
of the USSR resolution to the Disarmament Commission.
58. The resolution adopted by the General Assembly
already provided for a disarmament conference and set out
the necessary steps which should precede it. A conference
convened at some automatic date might only be harmful ;
and it was unwise to commit oneself to such a conference
without some assurance that the ground for it would be
adequately prepared.

59. The peace pact referred to in the USSR draft resolution
would not contribute towards reducing international
tension, because merely setting out the symptoms of a
disease could not cure it.

60. The Australian delegation would therefore vote
against the USSR draft resolution (A/C.1/698) and would
vote for the draft resolution submitted by the three Powers
(A/C.1/699), in the hope that a full discussion in the Disar­
mament Commission would renclf·r it possible to re;lch an
agreement.



198 Genernl Assembly- ixth Session-First Committee 

6 1 .  Mr. PALAR ( Indonesia) said tha : his delegation had 
always adopted an attitude calculated to promote conci­
l iation between the great Powers. Cor sequent ly, although 
i t  had been in favour of many of th, : collective security 
measures proposed in the resolu tion adc pted by the General 
Assembly at its 459th plenary meeting, as the great Powers 
had not reached agreement concerning t 1em it had ab tained 
from voting to avoid tak ing sides . 
62 . The delegation of Indonesia wo• 1 ld adopt the same 
at t i tude towards the USSR draft resol u tion .  It wou ld vote 
for any proposal figuring in that draft upon which the great 
Powers were agreed and would abstain from vot ing upon 
ones over which they were at variance . 
63. The problem of agreement betwe('n t J1e two " blocs ' '
was a long-term one which required t ime, pat ience and 
sacrifice for its solution. The USSR draft resol ution ought 
to be considered in that light. The two conce sions it 
contained certainly augured wel l fo1 the work of the 
Disarmament Commission. 
6-t . Mahmoud FA\\ ZY Bey (Egyp( observed that the

SSR draft resolution covered as wide a rang of questions
as the whole of the nited ations Char .er. Those que tions 
should be considered in relation to t he events that had 
aggravated the international situation. 
65. Leaving aside for the moment :he question of the

orth Atlantic Treaty, he would cont e himself in con­
nexion with the allied Middle East Command referred to 
by the USSR representative , to remin , ling th ommittee 
of the statement made by the E yptia n Minister of Foreign 
Affairs, at the 480th meeting , conde nning the attempts 
of certai n governments to confront th tates of the Middle 
East with the fait accompli of an all ied I ommand. Salah-el­
Din Pacha had added that such a diktat .vou ld not constitute 
a regional agreement , but a settlement , ,£ problems without 
reference to the views of the States cor cerned . The States 
of the Middle East could clearly not countenance such a 
system and would cont inue to abide hy the princip les of 
t he sovereign equa l ity of nations as la id down i n  t he  United 
Nations Charter. It appeared, however, that the United 
States and nited Kingdom Gov rnm ents were unwil l ing 
to give up the idea of an allied Midr lle East Command. 
That was certainly not the point of vie,• ' of Egypt .  

ti6 .  Egypt had always maintained that the creation of 
military bases u pon foreign territory oo Jld only result from 
an express agreement freely entere into between the 
States requiring them and iliosc upon · hose territory mey 
were established . gypt had not give 1 i t s  consent to the 
maintenance by force upon i ts  territo:y of military bases 
of the United Kingdom. 
b7. Egypt had always been in favo1 1 r  of Korean inde­
pendence and unity. t therefore hop �d for the cessation 
of hostil ities, the concJusion of an a rmu tice and the prompt 
,�;thdrawal of all foreign troops from Korean territory. 
The real source of the Kor :ill confli( t wa the existence 
of foreign interests in Korea and the 1 ;onsequent infringe­
ments which had occurred ever si: tcc 1945. History 
showed that such infringements had always resu lted in 
wa rs . The time was past when manki d could consent to 
bei ng div ided into spheres of i nflu nee .  The fu ndamental 
rights of peoples and nat ions could no longer be infringed, 
with the consequent risk of dragging the world into new 
wars. 
68. The delegation of Egypt had all"( ady given its views
on all the questions dealt with in parai:raphs 3 to 7 of the
l SSR draft resolution. Nevertheless i1 felt that the USSR
proposal should be examined afresh, a i.d was in favour of
the procedural solut ion propo ed in th- : draft resolution of

the th ree western Po,, ers ( /C. 1 /699),  to the ff ·ct that h 
propo al contained i n  paragraphs 3 to 7 of the S R draft 
resolution should be referred to the Disarmament Com ­
mis.o;ion for examination . 
6f . The United Nations Charter was its If a peace pact. 
Th • U SSR p roposal for a peace pact might therefore al?pe;1 r 
superfluous. However,  Egypt felt that no opportunity of 
strengthening peace should be lost and was consequently.  
in  favour of paragraph 8 of the SSR draft reso lution . 
70. Mr . BARA OVSKY (Ukrainian Soviet Socia list
Repu bl ic) dn;w attention to the importance of the USSR
draft resolution at a time when the armaments race was
endangering international peace and security. The Soviet
Union was striving for the maintenance of international
peace and security, but the obstinate opposition of the
United States had obliged the USSR and the peopl •'s
democracies to persevere in the search for mean of r moving
the threat of a new war and cons l idating peace and
friendship among me peoples.

7 1 .  Without rejecting the USSR proposal, the nit d 
tates and the United Kingdom had engaged in manoeuvres 

to pre ent its consideration by the rirst Committee, 
without giving any reasons for mat att i tude. The repre­
sentative of the nited Kingdom had stated that the 
Soviet Union draft resolution called for additional study, but 
at the same time he propo ed to defer con ideration of it  
indefinitdy. In view of the fact that the nited ations 
committees were not particularly busy, there was no doubt 
that the pro osal of the three western Powers to defer 
consideration of the U SSR dra ft resolution was tantamount 
to shelving it. 
72. The representative of Brazil had stated at the
488th meeting that the new SSR proposal w.1s only
sl ightly different from the oviet U nion amendments to
the draft resolution on di armament ubmitted by the
three western Po wers. The differences were on the contrary
substantial, as h.ad been recognized by the representatives 
of the Nemerlands, Norway, Belgium and others. 
73. To i:iave the way for an agre m nt, the oviet Union
had explained its point of view on the prohibition of atomic
weapons, co trol of th.e enforcement of that prohibition,
and the reduction of armaments. Tho e proposals, the
importance of which could not be denied, should not be
referred to the Disarmament Commission without the
General Assembly's having previously laid down di rectives.
74. When the representative of the three western PO\ ers
had submitted their draft resolution on the r gulation,
limitation and balanced reduction of al l  armed forces and
all armament·, (A/C. 1 / ·7/Re . 1 )  they had urged that the
General Assembly shouJd give the Disarmament Commission
clear and definite instruct.ions.
75. The representativ of h nited Kingdom in parti­
cular had opposed at the 469th meeting the Polish draft 
resolution (A/C. 1 /680) for r ferring to the Disarmament 
Commission all the proposals that had been submitted, and 
he had maintained that the F.irst Committee should state 
its position on - the fundam ntal problems. Nevertheless, 
that did not prevent the representative of the United 
Kingdom from adopting at the present time a completely 
opposite attitude so far as the U SSR draft resolution was 
concerned, or from asking that that draft resolution be 
referred to the Disarmam nt ommission to avoid its being 
considered by the General Assembly. Such an attitude was 
of course inadmissible. 
76. Paragraph 3 of the SSR draft resolution established
a close connexion existing between the prohibition of
atomic weapons and control to enforce that prohibition .



490th Meeting-IS January 1952 
---••-•--•--• --------��-----"-----

199 

In that respect, the United States proposals had tented 
to separate the two problems and to advocate the estab­
lishment of a system of control before the prohibition of 
atomic weapons was proclaimed. The representatives of 
the three western Powers and a number of others, including 
the representative of Peru, had recently stated that there 
would be no disagreement provided that there was no 
interval of time between the prohibition of atomic weapons 
and the establishment of control of the enforcement of that 
prohibition. The delegation of the USSR, therefore, in 
order to eliminate divergencies of view and enable joint 
decisions to be reached, had introduced a new clause which 
gave satisfaction to the western Powers. The delegation 
of the Soviet Union had suggested, indeed, that the 
prohibition of atomic weapons should come into force at 
the moment when States had signed a convention to that 
effect and when the system of control had begun to operate. 

77. Thus, the decision to be taken by the General Assembly
would not mean the immediate cessation of the production
of atomic weapons. It would nevertheless have considerable
moral force, just like the convention on the prohibition of
the use of asphyxiating gases, and would constitute an
important check on the actions of those who wished to
use atomic weapons.

78. The three western Powers had stressed the need for
a system of inspection on a continuing basis. Mr. Lloyd,
for example, had said at the 463rd meeting that the
inspection of atomic energy enterprises would not be
permanent but should be on a continuing basis. The USSR
was not opposed to the principle of inspection on a
continuing basis and, in order to reach an agreement on
that subject, it had introduced into the draft resolution a
clause providing that the international control organ should
be authorized to carry out inspection on a· continuing basis.
It was evident, however, that the rights of the inspectors
would not be unlimited and that, in particular, they would
not deal with matters unrelated to atomic energy.

79. Furthermore, the international control organ should
not interfere in the domestic affairs of States. The repre­
sentative of the Netherlands had expressed the view that
that restriction reflected a desire on the part of the USSR
to render the task of the inspectors more difficult. That
fear was without foundation, although the USSR would
never tolerate the establishment of a system of control
which was not regulated by a convention and which might
make the economy of a State dependent on another State
or group of States.
80. Thus, thanks to the attitude of the USSR,· there
were no further major obstacles to the proclamation of the
prohibition of atomic weapons by the General Assembly
at the sixth session.
8l. The representatives of the western Powers and the 
representative of Peru now claimed, however, that there 

Printed in Fra;;;;; 

were fresh difficulties, and were asking the Soviet Union 
to accept the United States point of view on the reduction 
of armaments. The western Powers wished to discredit 
the USSR proposal, although it was obvious that that 
proposal, rendered necessary by the acceleration of the 
armaments race and the aggressive policy of the United 
States, was in the interests of peace and of all the peoples 
of the world. 

82. The representatives of the Netherlands and of Norway
had stated that the North Atlantic Treaty was not of an
aggressive nature but that it had been established in accor­
dance with the provisions of the Charter of the United
Nations. The North Atlantic Treaty did indeed refer to
the Charter of the United Nations. That, however, was
a mere fa�ade intended to conceal the treaty's aggressive
purposes. The North Atlantic Treaty Organization had
been established as a substitute for the United Nations,
as was obvious from the fact that it was participated in by
States that were not Members of the United Nations and
from the fact that the Soviet Union and the people's
democracies were being left out of it. It was not true that
the North Atlantic Treaty Organization was subject to the
decisions of the Security Council, for Article 5 of the
treaty provided for the use of armed forces without the
Security Council's authorization. Furthermore, Article 9
allowed for the establishment of an " Atlantic council "
and a " European military staff committee " both of which
possessed greater powers than those of the Security Council.
It followed that the attempt to represent NATO as an
application of the United Nations collective security
system was a mere betrayal of the Charter. The United
Nations had been established precisely to prevent the
formation of aggressive military unions such as NATO.
The only link between the United Nations and the North
Atlantic Treaty Organisation was the common dependence
of both bodies on the United States of America. Moreover,
the history of the treaty proved that the purpose of NATO
was to conduct an aggressive policy towards the USSR
and the people's democracies. It was for that reason that
paragraph I of the USSR draft resolution should be adopted.

8:3. The Ukrainian delegation protested against the 
unfounded statements of the representatives of Haiti and 
the Dominican Republic. 

84. The USSR draft resolution provided the basis for
co-operation among peace-loving peoples, The Ukrainian
delegation supported it unreservedly and was opposed
to the draft resolution submitted by the three western
Powers unless the Disarmament Commission received
from the General Assembly precise directives as to the
way in which it should consider the USSR draft resolution.

The meeting rose at 6.30 p.m. 

D-93100-February 195z-3,6oo




